69834.9

69824-9

No. 69824-9

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CARLOS QUINTERO CISNEROS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Quintero
 Cisneros's motion to withdraw his guilty plea.
- 2. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in entering finding of fact 7, that Mr. Quintero Cisneros's attorney recalled having a conversation specifically regarding deportation as an immigration consequence of Assault of a Child in the Third Degree.

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A defendant is deprived of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel if his attorney fails to inform him that he is pleading guilty to a crime which is clearly a deportable offense. Mr. Quintero Cisneros, who has lived in the United States since he was a baby, pled guilty to third degree assault of a child with sexual motivation, a clearly deportable offense. The government later initiated removal proceedings and Mr. Quintero Cisneros moved to withdraw his plea. He said defense counsel did not advise him he would be deported and his attorney said he believed he properly advised him but could not remember specifically. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Quintero Cisneros's motion to withdraw his guilty plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Carlos Quintero Cisneros is a lawful permanent resident who has lived in the United States since he was a two-month-old baby. CP 56, 69. In April of 2008, when Mr. Quintero Cisneros was 20 years old, he had sex with a person who was between 14 and 16 years old. CP 1-4, 15. The State charged Mr. Quintero Cisneros with third-degree rape of a child. CP 1. Mr. Quintero Cisneros eventually entered an *Alford*¹ plea to third-degree assault of a child with sexual motivation. CP 5-17. Both the original charge and the crime to which Mr. Quintero Cisneros pled guilty are categorical aggravated felonies which qualify non-citizen defendants for removal from the country. CP 69-73, 79.

In 2010, the federal government initiated removal proceedings against Mr. Quintero Cisneros. CP 69. After hiring a succession of immigration attorneys who were eventually disbarred, Mr. Quintero Cisneros was finally referred to competent immigration counsel and criminal defense lawyers. CP 44-45, 104-07.

Mr. Quintero Cisneros filed a motion to withdraw his *Alford* plea on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel because he had not been told that his conviction would result in deportation. CP 41-119. After an

¹ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970).

evidentiary hearing, the superior court denied the motion. CP 157-160.

Mr. Quintero Cisneros appeals. CP 155-56.

D. ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in denying the motion to withdraw the guilty plea, because Mr. Quintero Cisneros was not advised of the immigration consequences of his plea.

1. A defendant is deprived of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel if his attorney fails to inform him that he is pleading guilty to a crime which is clearly a deportable offense.

It is axiomatic that a criminal defendant has a constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI;² Const. art.

I, § 22;³ *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 654, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80

L.Ed.2d 657 (1984); *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77, 917 P.2d

563 (1996). "The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the 'ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution' to which they are entitled." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)

² The Sixth Amendment provides, in relevant part, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense."

³ Article I, § 22 of the Washington Constitution provides, in relevant part, "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel"

(quoting *Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann*, 317 U.S. 269, 276, 63 S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268 (1942)). The right to the effective assistance of counsel extends to the plea bargaining process. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 57, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985).

A defendant is entitled to relief based on ineffective assistance of counsel if (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687; *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987).

As to the performance prong, in the context of a plea agreement, an attorney's performance is deficient if he fails to inform his client whether the plea carries a risk of deportation. *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 1486, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010). When the deportation consequence of a plea is clear, counsel has a duty to inform the client that the State is offering a plea to a deportable offense. *Id.* at 1483. If the immigration consequences are unclear, counsel must at least advise a noncitizen client that the charge may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences. *Id.* The fact that the standard plea form carries a boilerplate warning does not satisfy counsel's obligations. *State v. Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d 163, 173-74, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011).

As to the prejudice prong, "a defendant challenging a guilty plea must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *In re Personal Restraint of Riley*, 122 Wn.2d 772, 780-81, 863 P.2d 554 (1993) (citing *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 59). "Generally, this is shown by demonstrating to the court some legal or factual matter which was not discovered by counsel or conveyed to the defendant himself before entry of the plea of guilty." *State v. Garcia*, 57 Wn. App. 927, 933, 791 P.2d 244 (1990). If a decision to reject the plea bargain "would have been rational under the circumstances," prejudice is established. *Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d at 175 (citing *Padilla*, 130 S.Ct. at 1485).

A defendant may move to withdraw a guilty plea for failure of his attorney to properly inform him of immigration consequences even if the motion is made more than one year after the conviction became final, because *Padilla* and *Sandoval* constituted a "significant change in the law" for purposes of RCW 10.73.100(6). *In re the Personal Restraint of Jagana*, 170 Wn. App. 32, 36, 282 P.3d 1153 (2012).⁴

⁴ In *Chaidez*, the United States Supreme Court held that under federal law, *Padilla* is not retroactive to cases that were final when *Padilla* was decided. *Chaidez v. United States*, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 1103, 1105, 185 L.Ed.2d 149 (2013). Although Washington courts have engaged in a retroactivity analysis that is similar to the federal standard, the U.S. Supreme Court cannot, of course, dictate the construction of a Washington statute like RCW 10.73.100. *Jagana* therefore controls.

2. The trial court abused its discretion in finding that Mr. Quintero Cisneros was advised of the immigration consequences of his plea and in denying his motion to withdraw the plea for ineffective assistance of counsel.

In this case, Mr. Quintero Cisneros was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel because his attorney did not warn him he would be deported if he pled guilty to third-degree assault of a child with sexual motivation. Mr. Quintero Cisneros has lived in this country since he was a baby, and would not have pled guilty had he known he would be deported.

A trial court's order on a motion to withdraw a guilty plea or vacate a judgment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *In re the Personal Restraint of Cadwallader*, 155 Wn.2d 867, 879–80, 123 P.3d 456 (2005). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision "is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). "The 'untenable grounds' basis applies if the factual findings are unsupported by the record." *State v. Lamb*, 175 Wn. 2d 121, 127, 285 P.3d 27 (2012).

In this case, the motion was denied on untenable grounds because the factual findings are unsupported by the record. The trial court found that counsel discussed deportation as an immigration consequence of assault of a child in the third degree, but this finding is inconsistent with the exhibits and testimony. CP 158. The exhibits do show that trial counsel told *the prosecutor* in e-mail that Mr. Quintero Cisneros would be deported. Ex. 1; CP 84. But counsel's file contained *no* letters informing *Mr. Quintero Cisneros* of this consequence.

Indeed, at the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Quintero Cisneros testified that he was *not* told he would be deported. CP 105-06; 12/12/12 RP 34-35. His trial attorney also testified at the evidentiary hearing. He said he remembered telling Mr. Quintero Cisneros "that this type of offense would cause him to be deported," but he did not remember whether he told Mr. Quintero Cisneros that he would be deported following a conviction on the *amended* charge to which he pled guilty or only that he would be deported if he were convicted of the *original* charge. 12/12/12 RP 7. Even after reviewing the e-mail he sent to the prosecutor, he did not remember anything specific about the discussion, just that he had a general conversation regarding immigration consequences. 12/12/12 RP 9-10.

When pressed by the prosecutor, trial counsel said, "based on my reading of this e-mail [to the prosecutor], I believe I did convey to him that he would be deported for this new charge in the plea offer." 12/12/12 RP 21. But he later reiterated, "I can't say specifically what I told him." 12/12/12 RP 29.

The trial court's finding that Mr. Quintero Cisneros was properly advised is untenable in light of trial counsel's equivocation and Mr.

Ouintero Cisneros's insistence that he was not advised he would be deported. Mr. Quintero Cisneros's representation is highly credible in light of the fact that no reasonable person who had lived here from the age of two months would plead guilty to a crime which would result in automatic removal from the only country he had ever known as his home. The trial court's conclusion that Mr. Quintero Cisneros chose to plead guilty notwithstanding deportation because it would be better for his employment prospects makes no sense. 12/12/12 RP 59. If a person is deported, he has no employment prospects in this country, and he is banished from his home. See Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d at 175-76 (deportation is "a particularly severe penalty" akin to "banishment or exile," and "separation from ... family"). On this record, the only tenable finding is that counsel did not advise Mr. Quintero Cisneros he would be deported and if Mr. Quintero Cisneros had known of the immigration consequences, he would not have pled guilty. See CP 118. No matter how likely a conviction would have been after trial, it would not have amounted to the 100% likelihood of deportation resulting from the guilty plea. Accordingly, Mr. Quintero Cisneros was prejudiced, and the motion to withdraw the guilty plea should have been granted.

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above Mr. Quintero Cisneros asks this

Court to reverse the order denying the motion to withdraw the guilty plea.