I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Carlos Quintero Cisneros appeals from a trial court decision denying 

a motion to withdraw a guilty plea contending he was not informed of 

deportation consequences of his plea. The State contends the motion more 

than a year after sentencing was untimely because the Supreme Court 

decision in Sandoval did not create a new rule meriting retroactive 

application. In determining a factual hearing was required, the trial court 

relied on a Court of Appeals case which was remanded for reconsideration. 

In addition, the record before the trial court established that the 

defendant had been informed by his counsel that he would be deported for 

the charge for which he pled guilty. 

Therefore, the appeal must be denied. 

II. ISSUES 

1. Is a motion to withdraw guilty plea timely based upon a change in 

the law which has been determined not to have retroactive 

application by the United States Supreme Court? 

2. Where the defendant's former counsel testified he informed the 

defendant he would be deported, was the defendant informed of the 

immigration consequences? 
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3. Where counsel testified he informed the client of the immigration 

consequences, is the trial court determination supported by 

substantial evidence? 

4. Where the defendant was informed of the immigration consequences, 

has he established ineffective assistance of counsel? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Statement of Procedural History. 

On September 10, 2008, Carlos Quintero Cisneros was charged with 

Rape of a Child in the Third Degree alleged to have occurred about April 

25th or 26th, 2008. CP 1. Quintero Cisneros was alleged to have had sex 

with a fourteen year-old girl at a Motel in Mount Vernon. CP 3. The girl 

had met Quintero Cisneros three or four weeks before and had been told he 

was twenty years old. CP 3. Law enforcement found out the hotel where the 

intercourse occurred and found out it had been rented by Quintero Cisneros. 

CP 3-4. 

Officers located Quintero Cisneros and interviewed him after 

advising him of his rights. CP 4. He admitted to having intercourse with the 

girl, knowing that she was 14 or 15 years old, and that he knew it was wrong 

and illegal. CP 4. 

On September 23, 2008, Quintero Cisneros' counsel consulted with 

immigration project counsel about whether certain charges would result in 
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deportation. CP 79-80. The Rape of a Child in the Third Degree was 

advised to be a sex offense resulting in automatic deportation. CP 79. 

On December 31, 2008, defense counsel e-mailed the prosecutor 

following an inquiry about whether the offer of the plea to Assault in the 

Third Degree with Sexual Motivation would be accepted. CP 83. That e-

mail indicated as follows: 

I anticipate he'll be accepting your offer - I wanted to give a 
little time, though. First, he realizes that he will be going to 
DOC so he is trying to clean up some of his misdemeanor 
cases (DWLS cases mostly) before he goes. Also, this 
charge will undoubtedly get him deported and I am trying to 
get some information from his immigration attorney but I 
haven't had a lot of success so far. He's been good about 
keeping his appointments with me and he understands he's 
going to have to deal with this, so he is not trying to avoid it. 
I'd like another brief continuance, please. 

CP 83. The case was continued and another e-mail exchanged occurred 

three weeks later. CP 84. 

On January 20, 2009, Quintero Cisneros' counsel e-mailed the 

prosecutor indicating that Quintero Cisneros was accepting the offer, but 

wanted to continue sentencing to deal with other cases and the result of 

deportation. That e-mail reads in pertinent part: 

Also, if he were to enter the plea this Friday could we set out 
sentencing? I know this sounds bad but I am hoping to have 
sentencing set out to April. He has his last pending case (I 
believe it is a DWLS) in Snohomish County on April 6, 2009 
for dispo (according to the paperwork he showed me). I 
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don't know why a DWLS case got set out that far but I don't 
know how Snohomish County works anyway. 
I'm trying to avoid him having a BW when he is in DOC. 
He's going to get deported after this so he is trying to settle 
his other cases before he goes to DOC. 

CP 84. The prosecutor agreed to set out the case for sentencing in mid to 

late February. CP 84. 

On January 29, 2009, Quintero Cisneros plead guilty to Assault in 

the Third Degree with Sexual Motivation under an amended information. 

CP 8-17, 5-6, 1/29/09 RP 1-5. I The statement of defendant on plea of guilty 

contains the standard language indicating immigration consequences which 

reads: 

If I am not a citizen of the United States, a plea of guilty 
to an offense punishable as a crime under state law is 
grounds for deportation, exclusion from admission to the 
United States, or denial of naturalization pursuant to 
laws of the United States. 

CP 12 (bold emphasis in original). In the guilty plea form certain language 

which was added was indicated in bold including the charges and 

prosecutor' s recommendation. CP 8, 11-12. In the plea form the standard 

immigration language was also placed in bold. 

I The State will refer to the verbatim report of proceedings by using the date followed by 
"RP" and the page number. The report of proceedings in this case are as follows: 

1129109 RP Guilty Plea Hearing (In volume with 1011109 and 1117112) 
2/26/09 RP Sentencing 
10/1/09 RP Hearing to Amend J & S (In volume with 1/29/09 and 1117/12) 
1117/12 RP Motion to Withdraw Plea (In volume with 1/29/09 and 10/1/09) 
12/12112 RP Motion to Withdraw Plea- Testimony and Ruling. 
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On February 26, 2009, Quintero Cisneros was sentenced to 13 

months of prison. CP 27, 2/26/09 RP 4-5. 

On July 19,2012, Quintero Cisneros filed a motion to withdraw the 

guilty plea contending that his counsel had failed to advise him of the 

immigration consequences of the conviction. CP 42. The motion noted that 

the counsel's notes indicated that he advised Quintero Cisneros that the 

initial charge would cause him to be deported. CP 43, 114. The motion 

included e-mails from counsel referenced above. 

On August 24, 2012, the prosecutor filed a response opposing the 

motion. CP 120-132. The response argued that the motion was untimely. 

CP 124-31. If the trial court determined the motion was timely, then the 

State contended a reference hearing was required. CP 132. 

On November 7, 2012, the State acknowledged that given the Court 

of Appeals decision in In re Pers. Restraint of Jagan~ 170 Wn. App. 32, 282 

P.3d 1153 (2012), although not agreed with by the State, supported the 

position that the motion was not time barred but that a hearing was still 

required to determine if Quintero Cisneros was advised of immigration 

consequences. 1117112 RP 8-9. The trial court determined a hearing was 

required. 1117/12 RP 10-1. 
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On December 12, 2012, the trial court conducted a hearing taking 

testimony as to whether the defendant had been advised of immigrations 

consequences. 12112/12 RP 1-60. The testimony is detailed below. 

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court entered oral findings 

that Quintero Cisneros had been advised that he would be deported and that 

his counsel was not ineffective. CP 59. 

On January 11,2013, Quintero Cisneros filed a notice of appeal from 

the motion to withdraw the guilty plea. CP 155-6. 

On January 29, 2013, the trial court entered written findings of fact 

and conclusions of law. CP 18-21. The factual findings included a 

determination that counsel had wrote in his notes that he had "explained 

immigration and registration requirements with the defendant." CP 19 

(Finding 6). The trial court also found that counsel had testified that he 

explained to his client that deportation was going to be a consequence of the 

guilty plea to the charge and recalled that because he had sent an e-mail to 

the prosecutor afterward. CP 19 (Finding 7). The e-mail sent shortly after 

the meeting with the client indicated that the Quintero Cisneros "was going 

to get deported after this." CP 19 (finding 8). 

The trial court found that "Mr. Roth advised Mr. Quintero Cisneros 

of the immigration consequences, that is that he would be deported ifhe pled 

guilty to Assault of a Child in the Third Degree with Sexual Motivation." 
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CP 20 (Conclusion 3). The trial court specifically did not address whether 

there was prejudice. CP 20 (Conclusion 2). 

2. Summary of Testimony from Hearing. 

Robert Roth was the public defender who represented Mr. Quintero 

Cisneros in 2008 and 2009. 12112112 RP 5. Mr. Roth had been licensed as 

an attorney since 200 1, and had worked since that time for the Skagit County 

Public Defender's Office. 12112112 RP 10-11. He had handled felony cases 

in Superior Court for about five years. 12/12112 RP 11. Mr. Roth had dealt 

with immigration issues in his capacity at the public defender's office. 

12112/12 RP 12. 

On direct examination Mr. Roth recalled the charges and recalled 

working with Quintero Cisneros. 12112112 RP 5-6. Roth did not have a 

specific recollection of what was discussed, but did have a general 

recollection. 12112112 RP 7. He recalled discussing the potential sentences, 

the plea offer from the state as well as immigration consequences. 12/12/12 

RP 7. He recalled telling Quintero Cisneros that the charged offense would 

cause him to be deported. 12/12/12 RP 7, 14-5. After reviewing the notes 

and e-mails regarding the case, Mr. Roth was able to recall that he had 

discussed immigration consequences of the plea with Quintero Cisneros. 

12112112 RP 9-10. 
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On cross examination by the prosecutor, Mr. Roth described his 

standard practice in going over the plea fonn with his clients. 12112112 RP 

13-4. Roth also indicated that after reviewing the e-mails in the case, his 

recollection was refreshed regarding contacting an immigration attorney and 

his advice to Quinterro Cisneros. 12/12112 RP 14. Roth had contacted 

attorneys at the immigration project early in the case. 12/12112 RP 14. 

Mr. Roth recalled receiving an initial offer bye-mail on October 13, 

2008, which was for Assault in the Third Degree with Sexual Motivation. 

12112/12 RP 16. Roth identified the second e-mail of December 30, 2008, in 

which the prosecutor inquired about the status of the offer. 12/12112 RP 17. 

In response the next day, Mr. Roth indicated that he was trying to get some 

infonnation from an immigration attorney. 12112112 RP 18. Because Mr. 

Roth was aware that Rape of a Child would result in deportation, Mr. Roth 

believed the infonnation was as to the consequences of Assault of a Child in 

the Third Degree. 12112112 RP 18-9. 

Mr. Roth's own notes and the email of January 20th, showed that 

Quintero Cisneros intended to accept the plea to Assault of a Child in the 

Third Degree with Sexual Motivation and that Mr. Roth had explained the 

immigration consequences. 12112/12 RP 19-20. The e-mail also requests a 

continuance of sentencing, and noted that Quintero Cisneros was going to be 

deported so he was trying to settle his other cases before he goes to DOC. 
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12112/12 RP 20. Based upon his review of his e-mails.Mr. Roth indicated 

that "I believe that 1 did convey to him that he would be deported for this 

new charge in the plea offer." 12112112 RP 21. Mr. Roth never represented 

that Quintero Cisneros would remain in the country. 12/12/12 RP 21-2. 

Mr. Roth also testified that defendants often seek a plea to an assault 

charge to avoid the stigma ofrape. 12/12/12 RP 22. He also testified that he 

believed Quintero Cisneros's chances at prevailing at trial were not 

verylikely because the victim, an independent witness and an audiotaped 

post-Miranda confession. 12/12/12 RP 23 . 

Quintero Cisneros testified. 12112112 RP 32-43. He acknowledged 

that he had been represented by Mr. Roth. 12/12/12 RP 34. He indicated 

that he could not recall if Mr. Roth had explained the immigration 

consequences of the initial charges. 12/12112 RP 34. Quintero Cisneros 

recalled meeting with Mr. Roth before the plea to the assault charge. 

12112112 RP 34-5. When asked why he wanted to take the plea to the assault 

charge, he indicated it was to avoid consequences in applying for a job. 

12112/12 RP 35. He contended he did not know what the immigration 

consequence would be. 12112/12 RP 35. He contended that he would not 

have plead guilty if he would have been deported. 12/12/12 RP 35. 

Quintero Cisneros recalls reading the plea paperwork. 12112112 RP 36. 
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Quintero Cisneros first claimed to be aware of the impact on immigration in 

March after he was sentenced. 12/12/12 RP 36-7. 

On cross-examination, Quintero Cisneros acknowledged he did not 

want to be called a rapist. 12/12/12 RP 38. He also said that the plea to the 

Assault of a Child in the Third Degree would have been better for 

employment. 12/12112 RP 38-9. 

3. Trial Court's Ruling from Hearing. 

All right. I don't fmd that there has been ineffective 
assistance of counsel here. 

The objective standard of reasonableness requires an 
attorney to affirmatively provide accurate information or 
advice about immigration consequences following a certain 
choice by the defendant. 

What we have here is a situation where Mr. Roth 
advised Mr. Quintero Cisneros that he was going to be 
deported. I can't come to any other conclusion, given his 
testimony and these records. 

Number one, there are several references in Mr. 
Roth's notes about advising Mr. Quintero Cisneros of the 
deportation consequence. And first of all, I will just point to 
the 11118/08 note which I just read, which appears to have 
followed the offer from the state, offering the two different 
options. And Mr. Roth says, quote, aware of immigration 
consequences, paren, deportation, slash, exclusion. 

Then again, toward the end of the negotiations Mr. 
Roth indicates, January 20th, 2009, that defendant was there 
for an appointment, has agreed to accept the offer on the 
Assault Three, and Mr. Roth says, explained immigration and 
registration requirements. 

His email to the prosecutor indicates that, quote, he's 
going to get deported after this, so he is trying to settle his 
other cases before he goes to DOC. 
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I do notice that that statement by Mr. Roth to Ms. 
Dyer, quote, he's going to get deported after this, was sent to 
her on Tuesday, January 20th, at 11 :58 am., approximately 
58 minutes after he had met with the defendant and, quote, 
explained immigration requirements. I can come to no other 
conclusion but that Mr. Quintero 

Cisneros was advised that he was going to be 
deported following his plea to the Assault Third with sexual -
- Assault of a Child Third with Sexual Motivation. 

Mr. Roth testifies that he believes he did convey to 
the defendant that he would be deported if he pled to the 
Assault Three charge. He was trying to get information from 
an immigration attorney on December 31 st. And then when 
he met with the defendant on January 20th, days later, he 
explained immigration requirements. He believes that he had 
a conversation with an immigration attorney in the meantime, 
and he remembers having a conversation with the defendant 
regarding deportation as a consequence for the Assault Three. 

It's not a matter of he thinks he did but maybe he 
didn't; it's that he remembers having the conversation. And 
given the records that back that up, I don't think I can come to 
any other conclusion. 

With respect to his inability to thoroughly review his 
guilty plea, that isn't sufficient in and of itself by any stretch 
to satisfy the obligation to talk about immigration 
consequences, but the question that was asked by Judge 
Meyer in the guilty plea colloquy says -- ... 

And the Court says, you read it thoroughly, and the 
defendant says, yes, your Honor. In the guilty plea statement 
itself, in highlighted paragraph, on page 5 it reads, if I am not 
a citizen of the United States, a plea of guilty to an offense 
punishable as a crime, et cetera, et cetera, etcetera, is grounds 
for deportation or exclusion or denial of naturalization. 

So under all the circumstances, I find it very difficult 
to believe that Mr. Quintero Cisneros was not aware that he 
was going to be deported following this plea. 

His testimony is that the choice he made, the Assault 
Three, was based on -- not on the fact that there were 
different immigration consequences, accepting that plea, but 
rather that employment situation would be different. He 
testified to that twice this morning, his employment situation 
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would be different in the assault three context as opposed to 
the Rape of a Child context, not that he thought he was 
getting a different deal with immigration. 

So under these circumstances it simply doesn't make 
any sense to me that he was unaware, and I certainly can't 
fmd that Mr. Roth failed to meet the objective standard of 
reasonableness or that he failed to disclose to Mr. Quintero 
Cisneros the -- the definitely dire consequences of being 
deported. So the motion to withdraw guilty plea based on 
Padilla is denied. 

CP 56-9. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

1. The motion was not transferred to the Court of Appeals for 
consideration as a personal restraint petition given the case 
law at the time. 

The motion to withdraw guilty plea herein was governed by CrR 4.2 

The court shall allow a defendant to withdraw the defendant's 
plea of guilty whenever it appears that the withdrawal is 
necessary to correct a manifest injustice. If the defendant 
pleads guilty pursuant to a plea agreement and the court 
determines under RCW 9.94A.431 that the agreement is not 
consistent with (I) the interests of justice or (2) the 
prosecuting standards set forth in RCW 9.94A.401-.411, the 
court shall inform the defendant that the guilty plea may be 
withdrawn and a plea of not guilty entered. If the motion for 
withdrawal is made after judgment, it shall be governed by 
CrR 7.8. 

CrR 4.2(f). Since this motion was made after judgment it is also governed 

by CrR 7.8. CrR 7.8 requires the motion to be within a reasonable time and 

that it also be subject to RCW 10.73.090, 10.73.100 and 10.73.130. Unless 

the trial court determines that the motion is not time barred by RCW 
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10.73.090 and a factual hearing is required the case must be transferred to 

the Court of Appeals for consideration as a personal restraint petition. 

The State contended at the trial court that the motion to withdraw the 

guilty plea was untimely. CP 124-31 . Prior to the motion being addressed 

before the trial court, the Court of Appeals decision in In re Pers. Restraint of 

Jagan~ 170 Wn. App. 32, 282 P.3d 1153 (2012) was issued. The 

prosecutor acknowledged that the decision being issued from Division I of 

the Court of Appeals controlled on the issue of time bar. However, the 

State wished to preserve its position noting that discretionary review had 

been sought ofthe decision. 1117112 RP 8-9. 

On August 13, 2012, the Court of Appeals issued the decision in 

Jagana which held that Supreme Court decision in Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 

U.S. 356, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 176 L. Ed. 2d 284 (2010) was a significant 

change in the law that merited retroactive application. In re Pers. Restraint 

of Jagan~ 170 Wn. App. 32, 56, 282 P.3d 1153 (2012). 

The State filed a petition for review of Jagana. 

Following the decision of the Court of Appeals in Jagan~ the United 

States Supreme Court issued a decision in Chaidez v. United States, 133 

U.S. 1103, 133 S. Ct. 1103, 185 L. Ed. 2d 149 (2013) which held that 

Padilla v. Kentucky, requiring defense counsel to advise defendant about the 

risk of deportation arising from a guilty plea, did not apply retroactively, 
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abrogating U.S. v. Orocio. 645 F.3d 630 (3rd Cir. 2011), Commonwealth v. 

Clarke. 460 Mass. 30, 949 N .E.2d 892 (2011). 

The Washington Supreme Court subsequent granted review In 

Jagana and remanded the decision for reconsideration. The ruling reads: 

The State filed a petition for review. On August 6, 
2013, the Supreme Court granted review and remanded the 
case to the Court of appeals for reconsideration in light of 
Chaidez v. United States. 133 U.S. 1103, 133 S. Ct. 1103, 
185 L. Ed. 2d 149 (2013). 

In re Pers, Restraint of Jagan~ 177 Wn.2d 1027, _ P.3d_ (2013). 

Supplemental Briefs were called for from the Court of Appeals and the 

case is waiting completion of the briefing. 

2. The motion to withdraw the guilty plea was time barred. 

The State maintains the position taken in the trial court and not 

addressed in the Appellant's Opening Brief, that the motion to withdraw 

the guilty plea herein was time barred because Padilla v. Kentucky, did not 

create a new rule meriting retroactive application. CP 124-31. 

3. Substantial evidence supports the trial court rmding that the 
defendant was advised he would be deported. 

Should this court reach the merits of the factual hearing, the State 

contends the factual finding of the trial court is supported by substantial 

evidence in the record. 
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Quintero Cisneros' counsel testified that he did tell him that he 

would be deported upon conviction for the charge in the guilty plea 

12112/12 RP 21. The e-mails which indicated the defendant wanted time to 

deal with his other cases before he was deported corroborated that fact. 

On appeal, Quintero Cisneros challenges the finding 7 which reads: 

That in testimony on December 12,2012, Mr. Roth indicated 
that he recalled having a conversation on January 20, 2009, 
specifically regarding deportation as an immigration 
consequence of Assault of a Child in the Third Degree 
because, in part, he had sent an e-mail to Ms. Dyer 
afterwards. 

CP 84, Appellant's Opening Brief at pages 1, 6-8. However, appellate courts 

are not to disturb factual findings supported by substantial evidence. State v. 

Lewis, 78 Wn. App. 739, 744, 898 P.2d 874,877 (1995). 

As the State indicated, the counsel testified as follows: 

Q. (BY MS. DYER) Now, again, we were talking about 
emails, refreshing your recollection, now that you've had the 
opportunity to review all of those emails, particularly those in 
Exhibits 1 and 2, do you have a refreshed memory or belief 
about what you advised Mr. Quintero Cisneros regarding his 
immigration consequences as to the Assault of a Child in the 
Third Degree? 

A. Yes, I believe I do, based on my reading of this email, I 
believe that I did convey to him that he would be deported for 
this new charge in the plea offer. 

Q. Okay. Is it -- is it your practice that when you come by 
information regarding the deportation consequences of a 
client, that you give them accurate information? 

A. Yes. 
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12/12112 RP 21. 

To support the contention that the factual finding was unsupported, 

Quintero Cisneros asks this Court to consider his testimony and compare the 

weight and credibility of that testimony versus the testimony of his former 

counsel. Appellant's Opening Brief at pages 7-8. 

However, credibility determinations are for the trial court. State v. 

Tyler, 177 Wn.2d 690, 715, 302 P.3d 165 (2013). The record shows a 

conflict between the testimony of Quintero Cisneros and his counsel. 

Quintero Cisneros testified that he could not recall ever being made 

aware 

of any immigration consequences on either the initial charges or at 

subsequent meetings. 12/121112 RP 34. He also claimed that the first time 

he found out there would be an immigration consequence was in March after 

he was sentenced. 12112/12 RP 36-7. This is directly contrary to the guilty 

plea form which specifically informed him there could be immigration 

consequences and the testimony of his counsel that he had informed 

Quintero Cisneros at a first meeting and prior to the plea. 12112112 RP 14-

15,21. 

This is an example of why contested factual determinations must rest 

with the finder of fact who was in the position to evaluate the testimony of 
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the witnesses at the hearing, and why fmdings supported by substantial 

evidence are not to be disturbed. 

4. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the 
motion to withdraw the guilty plea where defense counsel 
properly advised deportation would occur and therefore was 
not ineffective. 

We review a trial court's denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea for 

abuse of discretion. State v. Marshall 144 Wn.2d 266, 280, 27 P.3d 192 

(2001). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on 

untenable grounds or reasons. State v. Brown. 132 Wn.2d 529, 572, 940 P.2d 

546 (1997), cert. denied 523 U.S. 1007, 118 S. Ct. 1192, 140 L. Ed. 2d 322 

(1998) 

State v. Pugh, 153 Wn. App. 569, 576, 222 P.3d 821 (2009). Discretion is 

abused if it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State 

v. Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642,41 P.3d 1159 (2002). 

Given the record before the trial court which indicates the defendant 

was advised that deportation would ensue following the conviction for 

Assault in the Third Degree with Sexual Motivation, Quintero Cisneros 

cannot establish his counsel was ineffective. 

To establish the plea was involuntary or unintelligent because of counsel's 

inadequate advice, the defendant must satisfY the familiar two-part 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 
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(1984), test for ineffective assistance claims-first, objectively unreasonable 

perfonnance, and second, prejudice to the defendant. 

State v. Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d 163, 169,249 P.3d 1015 (2011). Sandoval 

went on to hold where the deportation consequences were clear a 

constitutionally competent lawyer would "correctly advise, or seek 

consultation to correctly advise," the defendant of deportation consequences. 

State v. Sandoval, 171 Wn. 2d 163 at 172. 

Here the e-mail presented specifically represented that the defendant 

wanted time before sentencing to address other cases because he was going 

to be deported. Thus, the factual record establishes the deportation 

consequences were clear and Quintero Cisneros was advised by his counsel 

of that consequence. 

v. CONCLUSION 

For the forgoing reasons, the defendant's appeal must be denied.